IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 75,870

ALONZO T. RAYNOR, as Guardian of the person and property of SCOTT THOMAS RAYNOR, Incompetent,

Petitioner,

VS.

EQUILEASE CORPORATION, a foreign corporation authorized to do business in the State of Florida; ALEXIS DE LA NUEZ; and GILBERTO GARAY,

Appellees.



ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SPENCE, PAYNE, MASINGTON & NEEDLE, P.A.
Suite 300, Grove Professional Bldg.
2950 S.W. 27th Avenue
Miami, Fla. 33133
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 23, 1985, Scott Thomas Raynor suffered severe injuries, including brain damage rendering him incompetent, when his automobile was struck in Dade County, Florida, by a tractor-trailer driven by a socially and financially irresponsible driver, Alexis de la Nuez, a resident of New Jersey (R. 1). Thereafter, Scott's father, Alonzo T. Raynor, in his capacity as guardian of the person and property of his son, brought suit against Mr. de la Nuez and his alleged employer, Checkmate Truck Brokerage, Inc. (R. 1). Both defendants appeared and filed answers to the complaint (R. 11, 13). Mr. de la Nuez then refused to cooperate with his counsel in any way and simply disappeared, resulting in the withdrawal of his counsel (R. 29, 36).

The plaintiff thereafter filed an amended complaint which joined two additional defendants: (1) Equilease Corporation, which was alleged to be the owner/lessor of the tractor-trailer, which had allegedly been leased to Mr. de la Nuez; and (2) Gilberto Garay, who was also alleged to be a possible owner of the vehicle (R. 54). Equilease appeared and filed an answer (R. 66). Mr. Garay's whereabouts could not be ascertained and the plaintiff was therefore unable to obtain his appearance in the lawsuit (R. 73). Checkmate subsequently obtained a summary final judgment in its favor upon a demonstration that Mr. de la Nuez was not its employee at the time of the accident (R. 37, 80).

As a practical matter, therefore, the only defendant remaining in the lawsuit at that point was Equilease, the alleged owner/lessor of the vehicle which caused Scott's injuries, whose liability rested upon its vicarious liability for the negligence of Mr. de la Nuez under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality **doctrine**". Neither Mr. Raynor nor

Although the lease agreement between Equilease and Mr. de la Nuez was executed in New York, and therefore governed by New York law, we conceded below that, because of Florida's conflict of law rules, Florida law governs the issue of Equilease's vicarious liability for negligent operation of the vehicle in Florida.

Equilease were ever able to determine if Mr. de la Nuez had liability insurance, and all the evidence points to a conclusion that he did not (R. 206-11, 227-28, 287-90, 310-12). And, although the lease agreement between Equilease and Mr. de la Nuez required that he maintain liability insurance on the tractor-trailer, Equilease conceded on the record that it did not bother to enforce this provision (R. 216-17, 253-54, 276-77). Instead, Equilease simply maintained its **own** policy of insurance on the vehicle (R. 290-91).

At the time Equilease was joined in the suit, it appeared to be thoroughly settled in Florida that an owner/lessor was subject to vicarious liability under the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" as a matter of public policy, and Equilease did not contend otherwise. Instead, it moved for summary judgment in its favor on the sole ground that it had sold the tractor-trailer to Mr. de la Nuez and Mr. Garay in 1983, and was therefore not its owner at the time of the accident (R. 91). The plaintiff also moved for summary judgment on the issue of ownership (and defended against Equilease's motion), on the ground that the contract by which Equilease delivered possession of the vehicle to Mr. de la Nuez and Mr. Garay was in fact and law a lease agreement, and that Equilease was therefore the owner/lessor of the vehicle at the time of the accident (R. 106). The lease agreement itself, which was for a period of 49 months, is in the record as PX. 13-23 to the deposition of Mr. Polizzi at R. 320 et seq.

The trial court granted Equilease's motion and entered a summary final judgment in its favor -- holding that the transaction was, as a matter of law, a sale rather than a lease, and that Equilease was therefore not the owner of the tractor-trailer at the time of the accident (R. 943). The judgment was appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Third District (R. 941). Our initial brief addressed the only question decided by the trial court. It was our position that there was abundant competent evidence in the record which would at least support a finding of fact that the vehicle was owned by Equilease and leased (not sold) to Mr. de la Nuez (not the least of which was the lease agreement itself, which declared Equilease to be the owner); that Equilease therefore did not

shoulder its burden of demonstrating conclusively, and **as** a matter of law, that it was not the owner of the vehicle at the time of the accident; and that the trial court erred in entering summary final judgment in Equilease's favor **as** a result.

After our initial brief was filed, but before Equilease filed its answer brief, the Second District decided *Peny v.* GMAC. *Leasing Cop.*, 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), *review denied*, 558 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990). Although the issue in that case was the constitutionality of the legislature's 1986 modification of the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" where long-term leases are concerned, the *Peny* Court had to determine whether long-term lessors were liable under the doctrine prior to 1986 in order to resolve that question -- and it announced (for the first time ever in the history of the law of Florida) that they were not.²

The bulk of Equilease's answer brief was devoted to the issue of "sale vs. lease". However, the briefs two concluding paragraphs advanced the following "right for the wrong reason" argument:

The Second District recently indicated in *Peny v. G.M.A.C. Leasing Cop.*, 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) that at the time the cause of action accrued in this case, a long-term lessor, like a conditional vendor, did not have "a sufficient ownership interest [in the leased vehicle] for the purpose of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine." Id at 682. Thus, under *Peny*, the order appealed from should be affirmed, even if this Court were to accept all of Plaintiffs contentions.

The statute at issue in Peny was §324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.), effective July 1, 1986, which appears to modify Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" in circumstances where an owner/lessor has leased a vehicle for a term of one year or longer, and the lessee has complied with the minimum liability insurance requirements of the statute. This statute is inapplicable to the instant case for several reasons. First, Equilease did not contend that the statute could permissibly be applied retroactively to the instant suit, which arose out of an accident occurring in 1985. Second, such a contention would run afoul of the Constitution in any event. *Frothingham v. Jabe Tile Corp.*, 14 FLW 5 (Cir. Ct. Dec. 6, 1988). *See Kaisner v. Kolb*, 543 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1989). Third, even if the statute could permissibly be applied retroactively, Equilease did not provide any proof below that Mr. de la Nuez had complied with the minimum liability insurance requirements of the statute (and the evidence points to a conclusion that he did not).

Equilease acknowledges that the *Peny* decision may conflict with decisions from this and other of the district courts of appeal. In the event that this Court should decide to follow *Perry*, or in the event that decision is upheld by the Florida Supreme Court, Equilease would rely on *Peny* as an additional basis for affirmance of the summary final judgment.

(Answer brief of appellee, pp. 25-26).

Before our reply brief was filed, the Second District also decided Kiaemer v. General Motors Acceptance Cop., 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), which squarely holds that, prior to 1986, owner/lessors leasing their vehicles under long-term leases were not liable under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine". The bulk of our reply brief was therefore devoted to a demonstration that both Peny and Kiaemer were wrongly decided. Unfortunately, nine days before oral argument of the case, another panel of the Third District filed a (presently unpublished) decision in Roca v. Volkswagen Credit, Inc., case no. 89-1184 -- a simple "PER CURIAM. Affirmed.", citing Palmer v. R S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc., 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), and Kiaemer, supra.

Given the settled rule that one panel of a district court is bound by the decision of another panel of the same court, *Roca* foreordained the outcome in the instant case. We therefore concentrated our oral argument upon a demonstration that *Perry, Kiaemer*, and *Roca* were simply wrong; and we urged the panel to certify the issue to this Court if it agreed with us, but felt bound to follow *Roca*. The panel's decision, filed shortly thereafter, reads in its entirety **as** follows:

The summary judgment in favor of the lessor is affirmed on authority and reasoning of *Perry v. G.M.A.C. Leasing Cop.*, 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) and *Kiaemer v. G.M.A.C. Leasing Corp.*, So.2d (Fla. 2d DCA Dec. 27, 1989), 15 F.L.W. D81. Because the question affects the rights of the motoring public, we certify our decision to the Supreme Court of Florida as one of great public importance pursuant to article V, sections 3(b) and (4) of the Florida Constitution.

A copy of the decision is included in the appendix to this brief, as required.³

From the face of the district court's decision, it would appear that Equilease's summary final judgment was affirmed on the sole ground advanced in its "right for the wrong reason" argument (that even if it were an owner/lessor, it was not liable under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine"), and that the district court did not reach the additional "sale vs. lease" issue. We will therefore assume that the "sale vs. lease" issue has not been resolved, and we will limit our argument here to the only issue decided below and certified to this Court. If that issue is resolved in our favor, the case should be remanded to the district court for disposition of the "sale vs. lease" issue.4

The "snowball" effect of *Perry* and *Kraemer* has continued. They were followed again in the Third District in *Tsiknakis v. Volvo Finance North America, Inc.*, 15 **FLW** D992 (Fla. 3rd DCA Apr. 17, 1990). Unlike the instant case, *Tsiknakis* involved a post-1986 incident governed by §324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.). Like the instant case, the *Tsiknakis* decision was certified to this Court.

The Fourth District has also addressed the issue in a post-1986 case governed by §324.021(9)(b), and has announced a result which is consistent with *Perry*, but inconsistent with Kiaemer. *See Folmar v. Young*, 15 FLW D366 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 6, 1990) (recognizing, contrary to *Kraemer*, that long-term lessors were liable under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" prior to 1986, but upholding constitutionality of §324.021(9)(b), consistent with *Perry*, on the ground that it did not deprive the plaintiff of any remedy).

Unfortunately, our reading of the district court's decision is by no means certain. By describing Equilease as the "lessor" in its opinion, it is perhaps arguable that the district court decided the "sale vs. lease" issue in our favor as a preliminary matter. If that is what the district court meant, however, there would still be no reason for us to raise the issue here because we prevailed on it below -- so we must limit ourselves to the single issue certified to the Court on either reading of the district court's decision. To allay any concern which Equilease might have -- and to discourage it from dragging the complicated, fact-sensitive, UCC-governed "sale vs. lease" issue into this proceeding as a precautionary matter -- we hereby stipulate that, if there is to be a remand, the "sale vs. lease" issue is open for determination on remand.

11. ISSUE PRESENTED ON REVIEW

PRIOR TO THE WHETHER, ENACTMENT OF **§324.021(9)(b),** FLA. STAT. (1986 SUPP.), A VEHICLE OWNER LEASING A VEHICLE UNDER A LONG-TERM LEASE WAS VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF THAT VEHICLE UNDER "DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY FLORIDAS DOCTRINE.

111. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The question of whether an owner/lessor is vicariously liable under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" has been answered several times by this Court •• in the affirmative, and without drawing any distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases. To the contention that there should be no vicarious liability where "possession and control" have been relinquished to another, this Court has responded that "possession and control" is ultimately an irrelevant question •• that the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" is simply a rule of public policy creating an additional layer of financial responsibility for the protection of the travelling public. Statutory developments have paralleled these developments in the decisional law. Section 627.7263 has long provided, without drawing any distinction whatsoever between long-term leases and short-term leases, that a lessor's liability insurance coverage is primary unless shifted to the lessee "in bold type on the face of the rental or lease agreement" •• and there are numerous decisions of this Court applying and enforcing that statute. Neither the statute nor this Court's decisions on the subject would make any sense at all unless the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" applied to owner/lessors.

The first time that any distinction was ever drawn in Florida between long-term and short-term leases was after the accident at issue in the instant suit, when the legislature enacted §324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.), which excepts long-term lessors from liability *if* their lessees maintain substantial amounts of liability insurance. But that

statute amounts to a legislative recognition that the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" theretofore *did* apply to long-term leases, since all that the amendment does is create a narrow exception to that vicarious liability — and actually leaves that liability fully in place where the lessee fails to purchase the insurance required to relieve the long-term lessor of liability under the doctrine. In sum, all of the sign posts on the pre-1986 legal landscape pointed in one well-established direction: motor vehicle owner/lessors were liable under Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine", as a matter of public policy and to ensure financial responsibility for negligently caused injuries — irrespective of the fact that they had relinquished "possession and control" of their vehicles to their lessees, and without regard to the length of their contractual arrangements to that end.

The Second District badly misread these sign posts in *Perry* and *Kraemer*. In fact, it appears that these sign posts were overlooked altogether. Instead, the Court inappropriately relied upon a decision of this Court involving a conditional *sale*; it erroneously concluded that the phrase "beneficial ownership" appearing in that decision meant the same thing **as** "possession and control"; and, thus confused, it decided that, unlike short-term leases, long-term leases transferred "beneficial ownership" to the lessee in the same way that conditional sale contracts do, and that long-term lessors should therefore escape liability under the doctrine for the same reasons that conditional vendors do.

As we shall explain in some detail in the argument which follows, this conclusion is bottomed upon a mistaken understanding of property law. A lease transfers only "possession and control"; it does not transfer "beneficial ownership". "Beneficial ownership" is a synonym for "equitable title" -- a claim to title which a law court will not enforce, but which will be enforced in a court of equity if a conditional vendor fails to deliver legal title upon the purchaser's compliance with the conditional sale contract. The distinction drawn by this Court's decisions has been between ownership and a "sale" of ownership, not between short-term relinquishment of "possession and control" and

long-term relinquishment of "possession and control". Given the long line of authority represented by this Court's prior decisions and the parallel statutory developments, it ought to be clear that the analogy drawn in Perry and *Kraemer* between conditional sale contracts and long-term leases is an impermissible analogy which has no relevance to application of Florida's "dangerous instrumentality doctrine". Prior to the enactment of \$324.021(9)(b), the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" clearly applied to all owner/lessors, whether long-term or short-term.

We will also note in conclusion that, if Equilease's lessee had negligently caused Scott Raynor's devastating brain damage after July 1, 1986, Equilease would be vicariously liable under \$324.021(9)(b) by virtue of the public policy codified in that statute -- because Mr. de la Nuez did not maintain any insurance coverage on the leased vehicle. The decision below therefore reaches the entirely anomalous conclusion that, because of an exception to the general rule enacted after the accident in suit -- an exception not even implicated by the facts in this case -- the general rule which now exists as a matter of statute did not exist for an accident which occurred within months prior to enactment of the exception. In our judgment, something has gone terribly wrong here.

If, as a matter of public policy, Equilease would have been Vicariously liable on the facts in this case if the accident in suit had occurred after July 1, 1986, and it clearly would have been, it makes no sense at all to relieve it of liability as a matter of public policy merely because the accident occurred in November, 1985 -- but that is exactly what the district court did below when it blindly followed the wrong turn taken in Perry and *Kraemer*. We respectfully submit that the district court's decision should be quashed.

IV. ARGUMENT

PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF §324.021(9)(b), FLA. STAT, (1986 SUPP.), A VEHICLE OWNER LEASING A VEHICLE UNDER A LONG-TERM LEASE WAS VICARIOUSLY LIABLE FOR THE NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF THAT VEHICLE UNDER FLORIDA'S "DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE".

Our obvious burden here is to demonstrate that *Perry* and *Kraemer* were wrongly decided. We intend to do that. In our judgment, the Second District misread the road signs; took a wrong turn at a sign labelled "beneficial ownership" (the meaning of which it simply misunderstood); and ended up miles from the destination to which a correct reading of the decisional and statutory law should have directed it. That demonstration will make more sense if we first sketch out the map which the Second District misread.

1. The historical legal background.

We begin with *Southern Cotton* Oil *Co. v. Anderson*, 80 Fla. 441, 86 So. 629 (1920). In that case, this Court announced that a motor vehicle is a dangerous instrumentality, and that the public policy of Florida required that an owner be financially responsible for damages caused by one to whom the vehicle has been entrusted. In that paradigm case at least, that has undeniably been the law in this State for the last 70 years. *See Michalek v. Shumate*, 524 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1988). 51

The question of whether an owner who has leased a vehicle to another is liable

We can find only one solid exception to this general rule in this Court's decsions. In *Castillo v. Bickley*, 363 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1978), the Court held that an owner was not liable under the "dangerous instrumentality doctrine" for the negligent operation of a vehicle by a repairman, where the service agency with which it had been left for repairs entrusted it to the repairman. The narrowness of this exception was emphasized in *Michalk v. Shumate*, *supra*, where the Court refused to extend it to negligent operation by a serviceman to whom the owner had directly entrusted it: "*An* owner who authorizes another to transport his car to a service agency remains in control thereof and ultimately liable for its negligent operation until it is delivered to an agency for service". 524 So.2d at 427. In a leasing arrangement, like the arrangement in issue in the instant case, the vehicle is entrusted directly to the lessee, so the rationale of *Michalek* would seem to apply, rather than the limited exception created in *Castillo*.

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