SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SIG J. SHEET

CASE NO. 75,870

JUN 25 1990



ALONZO T. RAYNOR, as Guardian of the person and property of SCOTT THOMAS RAYNOR, Incompetent,

Petitioner,

vs.

EQUILEASE CORPORATION, a foreign corporation authorized to do business in the State of Florida; ALEXIS DE LA NUEZ, and GILBERTO GARAY,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT EQUILEASE CORPORATION'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENDER BENDER CHANDLER & ADAIR, P.A. 5915 Ponce de Leon Blvd., Suite 60 Coral Gables, Florida 33146 (305) 662-1133 and DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A. Suite 2400, New World Tower 100 North Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 374-8171

By: RALPH O. ANDERSON Florida Bar No. 503207

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

Petitioner's attack on the Third District's decision rests on two basic arguments. First, Petitioner contends that the Third District in the present case, and the Second District in <u>Perry</u> and <u>Kraemer</u>, erroneously concluded that "possession and control" of a motor vehicle was relevant to a determination of vicarious liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

^{9/} Equilease also adopts and incorporates by reference herein the additional arguments made by Amicus FMVLG and Amicus FADA.

According to Petitioner, this reasoning results from a misunderstanding of <u>Palmer v. R. S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc.</u>, 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), and flies in the face of numerous other decisions from this Court, most notably <u>Southern Cotton Oil Co. v.</u> <u>Anderson</u>, 80 Fla. 441, 86 So. 629 (Fla. 1920) and <u>Susco Car</u> <u>Rental System of Florida v. Leonard</u>, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959). Second, Petitioner contends that prior to the enactment of subparagraph (b) of Section 324.021(9), Fla. Stat., in 1986, no exemption from vicarious liability existed for lessors of motor vehicles under any circumstances. As will be shown, Petitioner is simply wrong on both scores.

> A. "Authority and control" over the motor vehicle are relevant to liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

It is worth noting at the outset that the same assault on <u>Perry</u> (and therefore <u>Kraemer</u>, according to Petitioner's own analysis) which Petitioner presses here has already been presented to this Court. The petitioner in <u>Perry</u> sought discretionary review from the Second District's decision on the ground, among others, that it conflicted with this Court's decisions in <u>Anderson</u> and <u>Susco</u>, and the Fifth District's decision in <u>Racecon</u>, <u>Inc. v. Meade</u>, 388 So.2d 266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (also relied upon by Petitioner here). (A.A. 20-30). This Court denied discretionary review on January 24, 1990. Thus, Petitioner's contention that <u>Perry</u>, <u>Kraerner</u>, and the Third District's decision are the proverbial "flies in the soup" and conflict with a legion of prior decisions from this Court is but a rehash of the argument which obviously did not impress this Court. (Petitioner's Brief, at 23).

In any event, Petitioner badly misreads precedent in urging that "authority and control" has nothing whatsoever to do with "beneficial ownership" and the imposition of vicarious liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. For example, in <u>Anderson v. Southern Cotton Oil Co.</u>, 73 Fla. 432, 74 So. 975 (Fla. 1917), the case in which this Court first imposed liability upon a motor vehicle owner on the basis of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, the Court pointed out:

> The liability grows out of the obligation of the owner to have the vehicle ... properly operated when it is by his authority on the public highways.

Id. at 978. Clearly, an owner must have a certain degree of control over the instrumentality before he can be held responsible for not ensuring that it was "properly operated."

This Court again recognized in <u>Palmer</u>, 81 So.2d 637, that control over the motor vehicle must be present for liability to attach under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. In that case, the Court held that a conditional vendor of a motor vehicle was not liable for the negligence of the conditional vendee, even though the sales contract was not completed until after the accident and the conditional vendor was to retain title until all payments were made. The Court reasoned as follows:

> But the rationale of our cases which impose tort liability upon the owner of an automobile operated by another ... would not be served by extending the doctrine to one who holds mere naked

legal title as security for payment of the purchase price. <u>In such a title-</u><u>holder, the authority over the use of the</u> <u>vehicle which reposes in the beneficial</u> <u>owner is absent</u>.

Id. at 637. <u>See also Cox Motor Co. v. Faber</u>, 113 So.2d 771, 773 (Fla. 1st DCA **1959**) ("beneficial ownership" for dangerous instrumentality purposes is determined by the party having <u>control and</u> authority over the use of the automobile).

More recently, this Court plainly indicated that "authority" and "control" over a motor vehicle's operation served to limit application of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. In <u>Castillo v. Bickley</u>, 363 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1978), the Court approved the decision of the Third District which held that an owner of an automobile who entrusts it to a repair shop "and has <u>no knowledge of or control over</u> the operation of the vehicle during that time" was not liable to a third party who was injured as a result of the negligent operation of the vehicle by the repairman. Id. at 792. In reaching this conclusion, the Court expressly receded from <u>Susco Car Rental System of Florida, Inc.</u>, 112 So.2d 832, Petitioner's premier case, reasoning:

> An automobile owner is generally able to select the persons to whom a vehicle may be entrusted for general use, <u>but he</u> <u>rarely has authority and control over the</u> <u>operation or use of the vehicle when it</u> <u>is turned over to a firm in the business</u> of service and repair.

Id. at 793. This Court accordingly held:

The owner of a motor vehicle is not liable for injuries caused by the negligence of the repairman or serviceman with whom the vehicle has been left, so long as the owner does not exercise control over the injury - causing operation of the vehicle ... and is not otherwise negligent.

Id.

From the foregoing, Petitioner's contention that authority and control over a vehicle are, in the final analysis, irrelevant concerns under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine is entirely untenable.

B. Section 324.021(9)(a) enacted in 1955, exempts certain lessors from vicarious liability.

Petitioner's analysis also is based on the faulty premise that no legislative exemption from vicarious liability is applicable in the present case.

As noted above, the Court in <u>Palmer</u> held that a conditional vendor is not liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine where he retains title as security for payment of the purchase price. Under such circumstances, the vendor has relinquished beneficial ownership of the vehicle and accordingly is exempt from tort liability. Section 324.021(9) (a) was enacted the same year that Palmer was decided, and provides as follows:

> OWNER; OWNER/LESSOR. --<u>Owner</u>. -- A person who holds the legal title of a motor vehicle; or, in the event a motor vehicle is the subject of an agreement for the conditional sale or lease thereof with the right of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the agreement and with an immediate riaht of possession vested in the conditional vendee or lessee, or in the event a mortgagor of a vehicle is entitled to possession, then such conditional vendee or lessee or mortgagor shall be deemed

the owner for the purpose of this chapter.

Clearly, this statute is the legislative embodiment of the rationale behind the <u>Palmer</u> decision. Thus, for the last thirtyfive years, a lessor was not considered the owner of a motor vehicle for purposes of financial responsibility and the dangerous instrumentality doctrine where, as in this case, the lessee (1) acquires immediate possession of the vehicle, and (2) also has the right to purchase it.

Petitioner does not even mention Section 324.021(9)(a) in his brief. It is anticipated, however, that he will take the position that this provision does nothing more than require a lessee with a purchase option to comply with the financial responsibility law: and has no effect on the conditional lessor's liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. This position is totally without merit.

First of all, the legislature has expressly stated that the definition of "owner" found in the financial responsibility law limits the class of owner/lessors who are potentially liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. Section 324.011 declares the legislature's intent in enacting Chapter 324:

> Purpose of Chapter -- It is the intent of this Chapter to recognize the existing privilege to own or operate a motor vehicle on the public streets and highways of this state when such vehicles are used with due consideration for others and their property, and to promote safety and provide financial security requirements for such owners or operators whose responsibility it is to recompense others for injury to person or property caused

DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A.

by the operator of a motor vehicle.

Section 324.011, Fla. Stat. (1985). The underscored portion of this statute clearly establishes that by excluding conditional lessors from the definition of "owner" where the conditional lessee acquires immediate possession of the vehicle and an option to buy it, the conditional lessee alone is the "owner" of the vehicle for purposes of financial responsibility and tort liability.

Although unnecessary in light of the legislature's unmistakeable intent, decisions from this Court point to the same conclusion. In <u>Anderson</u>, as noted above, this Court held for the first time that an owner of an automobile was vicariously liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for the alleged negligence of the operator. The following passage from that decision clearly shows that the Court was influenced by the statutory treatment of automobile "owners":

The lawmaking power of the state, in recognition of the many and great dangers incident to their use, has enacted special regulations for the running of automobiles

These regulations relate primarily to duties that are imposed upon the owners of such vehicles. While these regulations do not expressly enlarge the common law liabilities of employers for the negligence of the employees, the statute does impose upon the owners of automobiles and motor vehicles duties and obligations not put upon the owners of other vehicles ... and specifically requires licenses, numbering, etc. for purposes of identifying the owner, and enacts that automobiles shall not be so operated on a public highway "as to endanger the life

DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A.

SUITE 2400 NEW WORLD TOWER, IOO NORTH BISCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FL 33132-2513 . TEL. (305) 374-8171

or limb of any person.''

It is also enacted that in case of accident the name and address of the owner shall be given on request.

The owners of automobiles in this state are bound to observe statutory regulations of their use and assume liability commensurate with the dangers to which the owners or their agents subject others in using the automobiles on the public highways.

* * *

The liability grows out of the obligation of the <u>owner</u> to have the vehicle ... properly operated when it is by his authority on the public highway.

In view of the danuers incident to the operation of automobiles and of the duties and obligations of the owners of motor vehicles under the statutes of the state, it could not be said that on the facts of this case no question was made for the jury to decide.

Id. at 978. This Court, therefore, imposed vicarious liability on the owner of the motor vehicle in large measure because of the legislature's decision (and the intent behind that decision) to saddle "owners" of motor vehicles with sundry duties and obligations.

This Court also looked to the statutes when it decided <u>Palmer</u>, 81 So.2d 635. The Court noted there that the rationale of the cases imposing liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine would not be served by extending the doctrine to a party who holds title only as security for payment for the purchase price. The Court further stated:

In such a titleholder, the authority over

DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A.

SUITE 2400 NEW WORLD TOWER, IOO NORTH BISCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FL 33132-2513 . TEL. (305)374-8171

the use of the vehicle which reposes in the beneficial owner is absent. <u>Probably</u> because of this fact, the term "owner" is defined in F.S. §317.74(20), F.S.A., to mean only the conditional vendee, in the case of a vehicle which is the subject of an ordinary agreement for conditional sale.

<u>Id</u>. at 637.

The controlling factor in <u>Palmer</u> was that the operator of the vehicle had acquired beneficial ownership before the accident occurred. Significantly, the Court, once again, made specific reference to the traffic statutes in reaching its conclusion. The statute referred to in <u>Palmer</u>, section 317.74(20), is now found at section 316.003(27), and is <u>identical</u> to section 324.021(9)(a).

<u>Susco Car Rental System of Florida</u>, 112 So.2d 832, perhaps the case on which Petitioner relies most heavily, also is instructive. In that case, this Court held that an automobile rental company was liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine for the negligence of the renter's permittee, even though the rental contract prohibited anyone other than the renter from driving the vehicle. In holding the company liable,^{10/} the Court stated:

> It has been the <u>legislative view</u> that the public interest requires more than regulation of operation, and that safety

^{10/} Pursuant to the contract, the renter was obligated to return the vehicle "within 1-2 days" Leonard v. Susco Car Rental System of Florida, 103 So.2d 243, 246 n.9 (1958), aff'd, 112 So.2d 832 (Fla. 1959), and there is no indication that a purchase option was involved.

regulations can never, in fact, eliminate the enormous risks involved.

Responsibility under the law was accordingly attached to ownership of these instrumentalities evinced first by registration laws and now by numerous provisions to assure financial responsibility of owners.¹⁷/

17/ Chanter 324, Florida Statutes, F.S.A.

Id. at 837. This Court's determination in <u>Susco</u> to impose liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine manifestly was guided by the financial responsibility law set forth in Chapter 324 and its definition of "owner." In the words of Petitioner, the Court "stuck to its guns," and once more looked to the statutes to craft the contours of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine

From the foregoing, it should be abundantly clear that Florida's legislature elected in 1955 to exempt from vicarious liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine conditional lessors whose lessees are given immediate possession of a motor vehicle and the option to purchase it.^{11/} Further, this Court has traditionally looked to the legislature's public policy pronouncements when addressing the scope of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine which, of course, is a rule founded on public policy.

^{11/} With the enactment of subparagraph (b) of section 324.021(9) in 1986, the legislature simply extended the immunity from vicarious liability to another class of lessors -- i.e., certain long-term lessors whose lessees meet insurance requirements.

In the present case, the legislature has decided that where a lessee is given immediate possession of a motor vehicle and the option to purchase it then he, and he alone, is the vehicle's "owner." Equilease submits, respectfully, that it is not the office of the courts to disturb that judgment.

> C. The Third District properly concluded that Equilease was not liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

As we have shown, this Court has looked to the degree of authority and control an "owner" has over a motor vehicle when determining whether to impose liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, and the legislature long ago codified this principle when it enacted section 324.021(9)(a). The Third District's decision accordingly should be approved given the nature of the transaction between Equilease and the "lessees," de la Nuez and Garay.

Garay and de la Nuez were required by the agreement to repair and maintain the tractor at their own expense; to pay for all fuel and material necessary to operate the tractor; to acquire and pay for all licenses, license plates, permits or registrations necessary to operate the tractor; to pay for all taxes and charges imposed with respect to the tractor; to maintain insurance coverage on the tractor and to hold Equilease harmless from all claims arising out of its use; to bear all risks of loss, theft, destruction, or damage to the tractor; to comply with all state inspection requirements; to assume all risks and liabilities for injuries or death arising out of the operation of

-33-

DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A.

SUITE 2400 NEW WORLD TOWER, IOO NORTH BISCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FL 33132-2513 • TEL. (305)374-8171

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